IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 23-184

SCA EFiled: Jun 13 2023

06:08PM EDT

Transaction ID 70193029

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA
Respondent

٧.

LAWRENCE DAVONN FOYE
Petitioner

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

John Sullivan
Deputy Chief Public Defender
Bar No. 6808
P.O. Box 2827
Charleston, WV 25330
jsullivan@wvdefender.com
304-348-2323

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The parole revocation order does not make a finding that the State met the burden of proof of a clear preponderance of the evidence, as required for a revocation of parole.
- 2. The Court did not apply the correct burden of proof of a clear preponderance of the evidence and the State's evidence did not meet this burden of proof.
 - 3. The revocation of the petitioner's parole was based solely on hearsay evidence.

STATEMENT OF CASE

The petitioner, Lawrence Foye, appeals from an Order revoking his home incarceration parole and sentencing him to prison for a term of one to five years. The revocation order does not state that the proper burden of proof of clear preponderance of the evidence was used in determining whether Mr. Foye violated his parole. The evidence at the parole hearing consisted solely of unreliable hearsay and the State did not meet its burden of proof.

Procedural History

The petitioner, Lawrence Foye, pleaded guilty to the offense of fleeing with reckless indifference, W.Va. Code § 61-5-17(f), on October 5, 2020. He was sentenced by the Circuit Court to home incarceration for a term of one to five years on December 8, 2021. (A.R. 8) Mr. Foye was paroled from this sentence on October 26, 2022. (A.R. 14) Pursuant to W.Va. Code § 62-11B-12, the Circuit Court has the authority of the parole board as to release on parole and revocation of parole in home incarceration cases.

Mr. Foye was arrested on January 27, 2023 on a Cabell County warrant charging him with first degree murder. The murder allegedly occurred on November 30, 2022. (A.R. 22) As of this writing, Mr. Foye has not been indicted in Cabell County.

On January 30, 2023 a petition for violation of parole was filed by the Kanawha County probation department. (A.R. 17) The petition alleged three violations: (1) Mr. Foye admitted to using marijuana on December 16, 2022; (2) Mr. Foye was charged with the offense of first degree murder occurring November 30, 2022; (3) Mr. Foye had contact with a disreputable person, Malik Hawk. Malik Hawk was also charged in the same Cabell County murder case. Mr. Foye was arrested with Malik Hawk on January 27, 2023.

Revocation Hearing

A parole revocation was held on February 24, 2023. Retired judge Dan O'Hanlon presided as a substitute for Judge Tabit. The hearing was conducted by video over Microsoft Teams. Two witnesses testified, Officer Brandon Adkins of the Huntington Police Department and probation officer Nona Black.

Officer Adkins was the investigating officer who charged Mr. Foye with murder in Cabell County. He was asked about a cooperating witness who provided details that led to identifying Lawrence Foye as a suspect. The petitioner made his first hearsay objection, which was denied. (A.R. 32)

Officer Adkins testified that a phone number associated with Mr. Foye was showing in Huntington at the time of the shooting according to cell tower data. He testified "We located a vehicle that was used during the incident, and at the time Mr. Foye was identified as the individual that was supposed to have that vehicle." A hearsay objection by the defendant was denied. (A.R. 33)

Officer Adkins identified Lawrence Foye as the person he charged with murder.

The petitioner moved for 26.2 statements before cross-examination. The motion was granted by the Court, but counsel was directed to proceed with cross-examination without receiving these statements. (A.R. 35-37)

Officer Adkins testified that Mr. Johnson was shot by an individual named Matthew Daughtery. He testified that Mr. Foye did not appear to be a possible shooter.

He was asked

Q: And just to make sure I know what my question was, my question was he was not physically present at the shooting. We're in agreement with what my question was; right?

A. Yeah. Standing – standing beside the person shooting, no. But as far as, like I said, maybe a half block away, yes.

Officer Adkins was further asked

Q. So my question was, is he being charged as an aider and abettor?

A. No. He's being charged with first degree murder

Q. Okay, he didn't shoot the guy, right?

(A.R. 42-43) An objection by the State (asked and answered) was sustained by the Court.

The officer was asked "So there's no verbal or written communication from Mr. Foye indicating an intent to either rob or kill Mr. Johnson; is that correct?" He answered "As far as I know, correct." (A.R. 43) Mr. Foye did not make any incriminating statement at the time of his arrest. (A.R. 44)

The petitioner asked questions regarding the cooperating individual who identified Mr. Foye. The officer testified that the witness was at the scene of the crime. (A.R. 48) This person identified Mr. Foye through a photograph. (A.R. 49)

Q. So is, like, the cooperating witness involved in all this?

A. Yeah. I believe that – the individual is with him during the entire encounter, the entire event.

- O. Okay. So it's a fifth person?
- A. Well that would be the cooperating witness.
- O. Yeah. Okay and that person is not charged?
- A. This is still an ongoing investigation.
- O. Okay. Have they been given any promises as to being charged?
- A. I'm not sure what the prosecution I'm not sure. I don't know what the exact answer is to that.

(A.R. 49-50)

Probation Officer Nona Black testified regarding allegations 1 and 3 in the petition to violate probation, use of marijuana and contact with a disreputable person. The petitioner informed the Court that he was not contesting those violations. (A.R. 50)

Ms. Black testified that Mr. Foye admitted to her, on December 16, 2023, that he used marijuana. Her information about contact with the disreputable person came from the criminal complaint charging Mr. Foye with murder. (A.R. 53)

In argument regarding the evidence, the State asked the Court to "find reasonable cause to believe that the defendant had violated his parole." (A.R. 55)

Petitioner's counsel stated: "I didn't brush up on the standard for a parole revocation before I came in and – but I'm under the impression that it's not reasonable cause, that it's clear and convincing evidence, but I could be wrong on that. But probable cause – whatever reasonable cause means – because it's a very unusual burden of proof to hear – it means something more than probable case." (A.R. 56)

Discussing the unnamed cooperating individual, counsel stated:

Now, we don't have his name, but we've got him – I can't see the difference in what this person's involvement is supposed to be and what Lawrence Foye's involvement is

supposed to be. If he's in the vehicle to travel to Huntington and that the possible shooter got in the car and continued in the vehicle, if this informant was there, he's just as implicated as anybody else, which goes to the credibility of whatever information we're supposed to have from him, which is very little anyway, but there's no reason to believe an unnamed person who could be just as implicated as Lawrence Foye. And there's no evidence outside of that. There's no independent evidence other than this unnamed person putting Lawrence Foye at the scene.

(A.R. 57)

Counsel stated "...that doesn't mean that this Court heard any evidence under any burden of proof to find that Mr. Foye committed a murder, is guilty as an aider and abettor to murder."

(A.R. 58)

Counsel for the State cited and read W.Va. Code § 62-12-19(a)(1) stating the standard for a parole revocation hearing is "reasonable cause to believe that the defendant has violated parole." (A.R. 58)

The Court found that Mr. Foye had violated parole and sentenced him to one to five years in the penitentiary. The Order was entered on March 2, 2023.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The burden of proof at a parole violation hearing is a clear preponderance of the evidence. In this case, the Court's order was based on a lesser burden of proof, reasonable cause, over the objection of the petitioner. The evidence at the hearing did not satisfy the correct burden of proof. The evidence at the violation hearing consisted solely of hearsay, denying the petitioner his right to confrontation and cross-examination of witnesses. Therefore, the order violating the petitioner's parole and sentencing him to the penitentiary should be reversed.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The Petitioner requests a Rule 20 oral argument in this case. The case involves a violation of the petitioner's due process rights and has resulted in his incarceration.

ARGUMENT

This Court has established the constitutionally required burden of proof for a parole or probation violation. "Where a probation violation is contested, the State must establish the violation by a clear preponderance of the evidence." Syllabus Point 4, Sigman v. Whyte, 165 W. Va. 356, 356, 268 S.E.2d 603, 604 (1980). This burden of proof was not used at Mr. Foye's revocation hearing and was not met at the revocation hearing.

Mr. Foye was on parole from his home incarceration sentence. A person sentenced to home incarceration is placed on parole, not probation, because home incarceration is considered to be the equivalent of a prison sentence. The sentencing court may place the defendant on parole after they have served the minimum statutory sentence. W.Va. Code § 62-11B-12.

Parole from home incarceration is supervised by the probation office of the sentencing court. Parole violation proceedings are conducted under rules provided by the probation revocation statute, § 62-12-10.

The standard of appellate review for probation revocation has been established by this Court.

When reviewing the findings of fact and conclusions of law of a circuit court sentencing a defendant following a revocation of probation, we apply a three-pronged standard of review. We review the decision on the probation revocation motion under an abuse of discretion standard; the underlying facts are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard; and questions of law and interpretations of statutes and rules are subject to a *de novo* review." Syl. pt. 1, *State v. Duke*, 200 W.Va. 356, 489 S.E.2d 738 (1997).

Syllabus Point 1, *State v. Brown*, 215 W.Va. 664, 600 S.E.2d 561 (2004). In this case, issues involving the burden of proof are questions of law which are subject to *de novo* review. The issue of sufficiency of the evidence is reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard.

Probation revocation proceedings involve a person's liberty and must meet Constitutional standards.

The final revocation proceeding required by the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment and necessitated by *W.Va.Code*, 62-12-10, *as amended*, must accord an accused with the following requisite minimal procedural protections: (1) written notice of the claimed violations of probation; (2) disclosure to the probationer of evidence against him; (3) opportunity to be heard in person and to present witnesses and documentary evidence; (4) the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses (unless the hearing officer specifically finds good cause for not allowing confrontation); (5) a 'neutral and detached' hearing officer; [and] (6) a written statement by the fact-finders as to the evidence relied upon and reasons for revocation of probation." Syl. pt. 12, *Louk v. Haynes*, 159 W.Va. 482, 223 S.E.2d 780 (1976).

Syllabus Point 2, State v. Brown, 215 W. Va. 664, 600 S.E.2d 561 (2004)

The burden of proof of clear preponderance of the evidence is also constitutionally required. This Court explained why this burden of proof was required:

In order to allay fears that the revocation proceeding will be abused by the law enforcement authorities we require that the evidence against the probationer be proven by a clear preponderance of the evidence.

In requiring that the evidence be proven by a clear preponderance we have exceeded the standard of a preponderance of evidence which has been recommended by the ABA Project on Standards for Criminal Justice, Standards Relating to Probation, s 5.4(a)(iii), at 65 (Approved Draft 1970).

Sigman v. Whyte, 165 W. Va. 356, 362, 268 S.E.2d 603, 607 (1980)

The Home Incarceration statute specifically provides that parole revocation proceedings are conducted under the procedures contained in the probation violation statute. But the burden of proof is the same, regardless of whether the defendant is on parole or on probation. "Parole and probation revocation proceedings are, of course, equivalent in terms of the requirements of due process." *Sigman v. Whyte*, 165 W. Va. 356, 359 n.4, 268 S.E.2d 603, 605 (1980)(citing *Gagnon v. Scarpelli*, 411 U.S. 778, 782 n.3, 93 S.Ct. 1756, 1759 (1973)).

The Home Incarceration statute contains the phrase "reasonable cause to believe that the person paroled has violated . . ." W.Va. Code § 62-11B-12. "Reasonable cause." was cited by the prosecuting attorney in argument (A.R. 58) and is contained in the revocation order (A.R. 1) If reasonable cause was ever considered the burden of proof in a parole violation context, it has

long given way to the burden of proof required by this Court. The *Sigman* decision does not even mention the phrase "reasonable cause." In considering what due process required, "reasonable cause" could never be an adequate burden of proof.

The burden of proof in this parole hearing was not a matter of semantics. The hearing was practically devoid of any substantive evidence against Mr. Foye. Only through a misunderstanding and misstatement of the burden of proof could there be a finding of a parole violation on the record of this case.

The Home Incarceration statute provides for the revocation of parole in W.Va. Code § 62-11B-12.

If at any time during the period of parole there is reasonable cause to believe that the person paroled has violated the terms and conditions of his or her parole, he or she shall be subject to the procedures and penalties set forth in [W.Va. Code § 62-12-10]. If at any time during the period of parole from home incarceration there is reasonable cause to believe that the person paroled has violated the terms and conditions of his or her parole and the home incarceration was imposed as an alternative sentence to another form of incarceration, he or she shall be subject to the same penalty or penalties as he or she could have received at the initial disposition hearing.

The Evidence did not meet the Burden of Proof

A preliminary question which must be considered prior to a determination of the adequacy of the evidence is the nature of the charge or allegation against Mr. Foye. Mr. Foye is not alleged to have shot Mr. Johnson. He is not alleged to have been present at the shooting. He was "fifteen seconds apart." (A.R. 41) He is alleged to have picked up the possible shooter in a vehicle that he was driving. He is not charged with being an accessory after the fact. He is not charged with conspiracy with other persons to commit the crime of murder.

West Virginia law provides for the prosecution of accessories.

(a) In the case of every felony, every principal in the second degree and every accessory before the fact shall be punishable as if he or she were the principal in the first degree;

and every accessory after the fact shall be confined in jail not more than one year and fined not exceeding \$500.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this section, any person who knowingly harbors, conceals, maintains or assists the principal felon after the commission of the underlying offense violating the felony provisions of [§ 61-2-1, 4, and 9, murder] or gives such offender aid knowing that he or she has committed such felony, with the intent that the offender avoid or escape detention, arrest, trial or punishment, shall be considered an accessory after the fact and, upon conviction, be guilty of a felony

W. Va. Code § 61-11-6.

The definition of these accessories has been clearly explained by this Court.

A person who is the absolute perpetrator of a crime is a principal in the first degree, and a person who is present, aiding and abetting the fact to be done, is a principal in the second degree.

An accessory before the fact is a person who being absent at the time and place of the crime, procures, counsels, commands, incites, assists or abets another person to commit the crime, and absence at the time and place of the crime is an essential element of the status of an accessory before the fact. Syllabus Point 2, *State ex rel. Brown v. Thompson*, 149 W.Va. 649, 142 S.E.2d 711, *cert. denied*, 382 U.S. 940, 15 L.Ed.2d 350, 86 S.Ct. 392 (1965).

The chief difference between a principal in the second degree and an accessory before the fact is that the former is actually or constructively present at the time and place of the commission of the offense, while the latter is absent.

Syllabus Points 5, 6, 7, State v. Fortner, 182 W. Va. 345, 349, 387 S.E.2d 812, 816 (1989)

Mr. Foye cannot be charged as a principal in the second degree because he is not alleged to have been present at the time of the offense. He has not been charged as an accessory after the fact under W.Va. Code § 62-11-6(b). The only way to be charged as an accessory before the fact is if he aided and abetted the commission of the crime. "An accessory before the fact is a person who being absent at the time and place of the crime, procures, counsels, commands, incites, assists or abets another person to commit the crime, and absence at the time and place of the crime is an essential element of the status of an accessory before the fact." State v. Fortner, Id.

Officer Adkins was directly asked whether Mr. Foye was being charged as an aider and abettor. He clearly answered No. Without a proper theory of prosecution, the Court cannot make a finding that the parolee committed a crime.

If Mr. Foye was alleged to have aided and abetted the crime of murder, counsel would have asked specific questions regarding the elements discussed in the *Fortner* case. When the investigating officer testified that Foye was not being charged under this accessory theory, there was no reason to ask any questions along those lines.

The Court's Order does not find that the State's Evidence met the required Burden of Proof

The revocation order states "based on the evidence and testimony heard by the Court, the Court finds reasonable cause to believe the defendant-probationer violated his parole based on the allegations contained in paragraphs one, two, and three" of the revocation notice. (A.R. 1) Nowhere, does the Order state that the evidence met the proper burden of proof of clear preponderance of the evidence.

The record of the violation hearing makes clear that this was not a typographical error.

The State provided an incorrect burden of proof at the violation hearing and prepared an order repeating the incorrect standard. This is not a case where the Court considered the evidence under the correct legal standard, but signed a document with an inadvertent error.

The petitioner objected to the "reasonable cause" standard provided by the prosecutor:

I didn't brush up on the standard for a parole revocation before I came in and – but I'm under the impression that it's not reasonable cause, that it's clear and convincing evidence, but I could be wrong on that. But probable cause – whatever reasonable cause means – because it's a very unusual burden of proof to hear – it means something more than probable cause . . . but it's not a legal standard for revocation of probation.

(A.R. 56)

This off-the-cuff legal argument misstated the burden of proof. Counsel stated "clear and convincing evidence" rather than "clear preponderance." However the objection to reasonable cause was preserved and a standard of clear and convincing evidence would have been an adequate basis to find a parole revocation.

The prosecuting attorney cited the inapplicable reasonable cause language from West Virginia Code § 62-12-19. The Court stated "That is correct, and I will revoke the parole based on all three things." (A.R. 59)

The order prepared by the prosecuting attorney preserved the error. The Circuit Court has not made a finding that the State proved violations of parole by a clear preponderance of the evidence. For that reason, the Court's order must be reversed.

Revocation was based solely on Hearsay Evidence

"Although a revocation of probation may not be based on hearsay evidence alone, a revocation of probation will stand even though hearsay evidence was introduced at a hearing, provided there was additional competent evidence sufficient to support the revocation. *State v. Stuckey*, 174 W. Va. 236, 239, 324 S.E.2d 379, 381–82 (1984)(per curiam) (quoting 21 Am.Jur.2d *Criminal Law* § 579 (1981)).

The evidence connecting Mr. Foye to the shooting was hearsay evidence alone. The petitioner objected to this hearsay and the denial of confrontation and cross-examination of the unnamed informant.

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