IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA SCA EFiled: Jul 27 2023

Docket No. 23-184

02:44PM EDT

Transaction ID 70499637

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

LAWRENCE FOYE,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Kanawha County Case No. 18-F-306

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

Jason David Parmer[WVSB No. 8005] Assistant Attorney General Office of the Attorney General Appellate Division 1900 Kanawha Blvd. E. State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406 Charleston, WV 25305 Telephone: (304) 558-5830 Facsimile: (304) 558-5833

Email: Jason.D.Parmer@wvago.gov

Counsel for Respondent

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

Contrary to Petitioner's argument, it is irrelevant whether the Cabell County prosecutor's theory at trial will be that Petitioner is an accessory, principal in the second degree, or an aider and abettor, because probation revocation proceedings do not involve a determination of criminal guilt. *State v. Ketchum*, 169 W. Va. 9, 12, 289 S.E.2d 657, 658-59 (1981) (citing *Gagnon v. Scarpelli*, 411 U.S. 778 (1973)). Rather, a probation revocation proceeding "involves a factual determination

that an offense has been committed which imparts the conclusion that the rehabilitative and other purposes behind probation have failed." *Ketchum*, 169 W. Va. at 12, 289 S.E.2d at 659. Thus, "[t]he State may proceed with a probation revocation proceeding based upon commission of another crime without first obtaining a final disposition of that crime." Syl. Pt. 3, *Sigman v. Whyte*, 165 W. Va. 356, 268 S.E.2d 603 (1980); Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Cooper*, 167 W. Va. 322, 280 S.E.2d 95 (1981). Because Petitioner's revocation hearing is not a criminal prosecution, it is unnecessary for the State to provide a theory of the criminal prosecution at Petitioner's revocation hearing. Given Detective Adkins' testimony regarding his murder investigation, the State's evidence at the revocation hearing established reasonable cause to believe that Petitioner violated his parole by his involvement in the murder of Christopher Johnson. App. 14, 30-50. And the evidence presented establishes a violation by a preponderance of evidence. Thus, the court did not abuse its discretion and this Court should affirm the order revoking Petitioner's parole.

3. The State presented evidence establishing reasonable cause to believe Petitioner violated the conditions of his parole by using marijuana and contacting a disreputable person.

The State presented unrebutted evidence regarding two parole violations—illegal marijuana use and contact with a disreputable person. App. 14-18, 22, 26, 53-54, 56. Petitioner chose not to contest these violations at the revocation hearing, stating "the defendant accepts and agreed to a finding on those issues by the Court. I didn't plan to have him give a sworn admission. But for the legal purpose of this hearing, we'll accept those violations and understanding that they can lead to revocation." App. 51, 56. Although Petitioner did not contest these two violations, the State provided a factual basis for them at the revocation hearing.

Nona Black testified that Petitioner voluntarily admitted to using marijuana on December 16, 2022, as alleged in paragraph one of the petition to revoke parole. App. 17, 26, 53. Petitioner's

voluntary admission form is attached to the petition to revoke parole. App. 26. Petitioner's counsel did not rebut this evidence or argue that Petitioner did not sign the voluntary admission form. App. 56. Thus, the State reasonable cause to believe that Petitioner violated his parole by illegal use of marijuana. W. Va. Code § 62-12-10.

Further, Petitioner's counsel agreed to a finding that Petitioner had contact with a disreputable person, Malik Hawk, his co-defendant in the murder case. App. 51-56. The murder complaint alleges Petitioner was in a car with Malik Hawk at the scene of Christopher Johnson's murder. App. 22-23, 38-40, 54. The criminal complaint is attached to the petition to revoke parole. App. 22. Again, Petitioner chose not to rebut the State's allegation that he had contact with a disreputable person when Petitioner was in a vehicle with Hawk at the scene of the murder. App. 50, 51, 56. The State's evidence at the revocation hearing established reasonable cause to believe that Petitioner violated his parole by contacting a disreputable person, Malik Hawk, in the context of a murder.

In sum, the unrebutted evidence of Petitioner's illegal use of marijuana and contact with his co-defendant in the murder case established reasonable cause to believe that he violated the conditions of his parole. App. 14-16; W. Va. Code § 62-12-10. And the evidence establishes Petitioner's violations by a preponderance of evidence. The court did not abuse its discretion when it revoked Petitioner's parole, and this Court should affirm the court's order.

C. Petitioner's parole revocation was not solely based upon hearsay, and the court did not abuse its discretion because the Rules of Evidence do not apply in revocation hearings.

Contrary to Petitioner's argument, the revocation of his parole was not based solely on hearsay evidence adduced at the hearing. Pet'r's Br. 11-15. To the extent that hearsay established the factual basis for Petitioner's involvement in the murder, there is no error. In probation

revocation proceedings, the rules of evidence do not apply. Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Evans*, 203 W. Va. 446, 508 S.E.2d 606 (1998); W. Va. R. Evid. 1101(b)(3). This is because a probation revocation "is not part of a criminal prosecution and thus the full panoply of rights due a defendant in such a proceeding does not apply to parole (probation) revocations." *State v. Fraley*, 163 W. Va. 542, 544, 258 S.E.2d 129, 130 (1979) (quoting *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 480 (1972)); *Gagnon v. Scarpelli*, 411 U.S. 778, 782 (1973) ("[p]robation revocation, like parole revocation, is not a stage of a criminal prosecution"); *Sigman v. Whyte*, 165 W. Va. 356, 359, 268 S.E.2d 603, 605 (1980).

Hearsay did not constitute the entirety of the evidence presented at Petitioner's revocation hearing. Petitioner focuses his argument on the evidence presented in support of the murder charge against him, but the State also presented unrebutted evidence that Petitioner violated his parole by using marijuana and having contact his co-defendant in the murder case, Malik Hawk. App. 14-18, 22, 26, 53-54, 56. Petitioner expressly chose not to contest these two alleged violations; stating that Petitioner "accepts and agreed to a finding on those issues by the [c]ourt" and "we'll accept those violations and understanding that they can lead to revocation." App. 51, 56. Thus, the revocation of Petitioner's parole is not solely based on hearsay, as Petitioner alleges.

The State also presented non-hearsay evidence of Petitioner's involvement in the murder. Detective Brandon Adkins testified that a cooperating witness, who was present with Petitioner throughout the events that led up to the murder, identified Petitioner as a participant in the crime. App. 32, 46-50. Corroborating the information from the cooperating witness, the State presented evidence that Petitioner is charged with murder in Cabell County, and the magistrate court found probable cause to bind this case over to the grand jury. App. 17, 20, 22-23, 35. In addition, Adkins testified "[w]e located a vehicle that was used during the incident, and at the time [Petitioner] was

identified as the individual that was supposed to have that vehicle." App. 33. Adkins also viewed surveillance video from the scene of the murder showing a black SUV that matches the description of the Chevrolet Blazer that Petitioner drove to Huntington. App. 33. Further, Petitioner did not contest the State's allegation that he was in contact with his co-defendant in the murder case, Malik Hawk. App. 50, 51, 56. Petitioner's contact with Hawk corroborates the State's theory that Petitioner was involved in the murder, because Petitioner never stated that he had contact with Hawk on some other occasion. Moreover, Adkins reviewed subscriber information obtained from Petitioner's cell phone company, which reflected that Petitioner's cellphone "was in Huntington around the time of the incident." Pet'r's Br. 11; App. 33. Petitioner's cellphone records are admissible under the business records exception to the hearsay rule. United States v. Carmona-Bernacet, Criminal No. 16-547, 2023 WL 2616911 at *5-6 (D. P. R. Mar. 22, 2023); State v. Mann, I.D. No. 1501012702, 2016 WL 1605512 at *1 (Del. Super. Ct., Apr. 1, 2016). And the Cabell County Magistrate Court held a preliminary hearing and found probable cause to bind Petitioner's murder case over to the grand jury. App. 34-35. Thus, the State provided adequate non-hearsay evidence to establish reasonable cause that Petitioner's involvement in a murder violated his parole.

Hearsay is admissible in revocation hearings, but the revocation in this case is not based solely upon hearsay. W. Va. R. Evid. 1101(b)(3). The non-hearsay evidence presented in this case establishes the reliability of the portion of Adkins' testimony that is based upon the statement of a cooperating witness. As stated above, the State introduced non-hearsay evidence at the hearing, including the Cabell County Magistrate Court's finding of probable cause in the murder case. App. 17, 20, 22-23, 35. Despite this, Petitioner argues that Adkins' alleged hearsay testimony regarding the murder is unreliable because it is based upon a confession of an accomplice to the murder.

Pet'r's Br. 12-13 (citing Lilly v. Virginia, 527 U.S. 116, 134 (1999)). But Lilly involves hearsay admitted in a criminal prosecution, not in a probation revocation. Id. Thus, Lilly and its concern over the admission of unreliable hearsay at trial is inapposite because a revocation hearing is not a trial, and hearsay is admissible in revocation hearings. In sum, the non-hearsay evidence presented at Petitioner's revocation hearing, including the magistrate court's finding of probable cause in the murder case, corroborates Adkins' testimony regarding Petitioner's involvement in the murder. Thus, the court did not abuse its discretion in admitting reliable hearsay evidence of Petitioner's involvement in the murder. See W. Va. R. Crim. P. 52(a) ("Any error, defect, irregularity, or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded."); United States v. Shakir, No. 13-6567, 574 Fed.Appx. 712, 714 (6th Cir. 2014) (holding that a probation officer's testimony based upon an arrest warrant constitutes sufficient evidence for a court to find Shakir engaged in criminal conduct and revoke his supervised release).

Petitioner cites *State v. Brown* for the proposition that the State should have called the cooperating witness in the murder case as a witness at Petitioner's revocation hearing. Pet'r's Br. 12-14; Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Brown*, 215 W. Va. 664, 600, S.E.2d 561 (2004). But *Brown* is not dispositive because there is non-hearsay evidence to support revocation in this case. The petition to revoke Brown's probation was based upon her alleged use of cocaine, and the State's evidence supporting revocation was a failed drug test. At the revocation hearing, Brown contested the results of the drug test and provided evidence that she was given an anesthetic during dental surgery. *Id.* at 667-68, 564-65. Brown's probation officer responded that "an unnamed laboratory technician" confirmed that "Brown had used cocaine, the anesthetic notwithstanding." *Id.* at 668, 565. On appeal, this Court reversed Brown's probation revocation because it was based solely upon hearsay and the lab technician was not present to answer Petitioner's questions about the drug test. The

court revoked Brown's probation solely on the basis of one failed drug test because it was solely based on the hearsay testimony of Brown's probation officer. *Id.* at 664, 563.

Unlike *Brown*, the court revoked Petitioner's parole on the basis of two unrebutted allegations and evidence establishing Petitioner's involvement in the Cabell County murder. App. 1-2. Detective Adkins reviewed surveillance footage from the scene of the murder that shows a black SUV matching the description of the Chevrolet Blazer Petitioner drove to Huntington. App. 33. Petitioner's cellphone "was in Huntington around the time of the incident." App. 33. Petitioner has been arrested for the murder and the magistrate court found probable cause of Petitioner's involvement in the murder. App. 17, 20, 22-23, 35. Further, Petitioner's attorney presented no evidence or argument to combat the State's allegations that he used marijuana and had contact with a disreputable person—his co-defendant in the murder case—Malik Hawk. App. 14-18, 22, 26, 53-54, 56. In conclusion, the revocation of Petitioner's parole was not solely based upon hearsay. Thus, the court did not abuse its discretion and this Court should affirm the court's order revoking Petitioner's parole.

D. Petitioner's revocation hearing satisfied due process requirements.

Although not assigned as an error, Petitioner argues that the order revoking his parole violates due process. Pet'r's Br. 15. The Court should decline to review this argument, because it "ordinarily will not address an argument not raised as an assignment of error." *Conrad v. Council of Senior Citizens of Gilmer County, Inc.*, No. 14-1262, 2016 WL 6778918 at *2 n.3 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Nov. 16, 2016) (memorandum decision); *see Canterbury v. Laird*, 221 W. Va. 453, 458, 655 S.E.2d 199, 204 (2007) (refusing to consider argument in appellant's brief not assigned as error in petition for appeal); *Koerner v. West Virginia Dep't. of Military Affairs & Pub. Safety*, 217 W. Va. 231, 237, 617 S.E.2d 778, 784 (2005) (refusing to consider an argument in

appellant's brief that was not assigned as error in petition for appeal). Because Petitioner did not assign error to the alleged due process violation, this Court should refuse to address this argument.

Even if this Court reviews the due process issue, it lacks merit. Petitioner argues that the court's order inadequately establishes a factual basis for the revocation. Pet'r's Br. 15. In a probation revocation hearing, due process requires:

(a) written notice of the claimed violations of (probation or) parole; (b) disclosure to the (probationer or) parolee of evidence against him; (c) opportunity to be heard in person and to present witnesses and documentary evidence; (d) the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses (unless the hearing officer specifically finds good cause for not allowing confrontation); (e) a 'neutral and detached' hearing body such as a traditional parole board, members of which need not be judicial officers or lawyers; and (f) a written statement by the fact-finders as to the evidence relied on and reasons for revoking (probation or) parole.

Louk v. Haynes, 159 W. Va. 482, 497, 223 S.E.2d 780, 790 (1976) (quoting Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 489 (1972)). In this case, Petitioner's revocation hearing afforded him due process. Petitioner was provided with written notice of the alleged violations that disclosed the evidence against him. App. 17-26. Petitioner had an opportunity to testify and present evidence, but chose not to do so. App. 1-2, 27-62. Petitioner's counsel confronted and cross-examined Detective Brandon Adkins and probation officer Nona Black. Id. And Petitioner' hearing was conducted by a neutral judicial officer, Judge O'Hanlon in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County. Finally, with regard to the revocation order, the Court states that:

the State adduced the testimony of Det. Brandon Adkins, Huntington Police Department, and Nona Black, Kanawha County Adult Probation Office, who subjected to cross examination. The defendant did not call any witnesses or testify. Based on the evidence and testimony hearing by the Court, [the court found that Petitioner] violated his parole based on the allegations contained in paragraphs one, two, and three as alleged in said written Notice of Motion to Revoke Parole.

App. 1. This is an adequate description of the evidence relied on and the court's reasons for revoking parole. See State v. Goff, 168 W. Va. 285, 287-88, 284 S.E.2d 362, 363 (1981) (holding

that a revocation order sufficiently related "the evidence relied on and the court's reasons for revoking probation.").

Even if this Court finds the revocation order lacks adequate detail, this error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See* Syl. Pt. 5, *State ex rel. Grob v. Blair*, 158 W. Va. 647, 214 S.E.2d 330 (1975). As stated above, the State provided evidence establishing reasonable cause that Petitioner violated three conditions of his parole. Petitioner has not shown that he was prejudiced by any alleged deficiency in the final order and this Court should find any error relating to the revocation order to be harmless. *See Blair* at 659, 337. In conclusion, this Court should decline to review Petitioner's due process argument because it was not assigned as error. And if this issue is reviewed on the merits, the Court will find that Petitioner was provided with due process at his revocation hearing. To the extent that any error occurred, it is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and this Court should affirm the revocation of Petitioner's parole.

E. The State established reasonable cause to believe Petitioner was involved in a murder and violated a no contact provision of his parole; thus, the Court properly imposed sentence on the underlying crime of Fleeing.

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